
tx • 



.0044,41.4710; 

COURT OF GENrRAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE, 

CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK, PART IV. 

. .. 

. THEE PEOPLE 

10. 

-against-
LEWIS C. WESTERVELT 

Land_ 
JAMES C. PORTER. 

B:efor e: 

HON. JAMES 1'; MALONE, 

and a JuTy. 

New York, April 15th, 1918. 

indicted for keeping and maintaining disorderly house, etc. 

Indictment filed FebrUary 21sti 1916. 

APPEAROCE: 

ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY JAMES. MAGEE, 

FOR THE PEOPLE. 

JOSEPH F. ROSALSKY, ESQ., FOR THE DEFENSE. 

11•111A 

TRANSCRIPT OF STENOGRAPHER'S MINUTES,. 

Frank S4 e 

Official Ste 



4111 

THE:, PEOPtE' S, TtSTIMONY: 

'3 0 H M 3, R E B D, of SPeoial. Squad 1, a' witness called 

on behalf of the Peop;.e, .being duly swOrn, testified as 

EOT EXAMINATION BY MR. MAGEE; 

Q Are you a member of the Municipal Police Fore 

of New York? A I am.. 
.40 

Are you mA.r'Eied? A Yes, -sir . 

Q Have you Children? No, sir. 

Where do You reside? A 2148 Webster AV nue. 

Q In the Borough of the Bropx? A 'Yes, sir. • 
(.1 

How long have you been On the police force? A Four and 

a half years. 

half . 

r 

Q How long have you been married? A About a year and a 

Q .Dp you know 

• 

remises called the Eastern Hotel? A Yes 

Q Where that r mises situated? A 64 Whitehall street . 

. 9 Is that in the City, County and State of New York? A It iS, 

. ,-And: have you ever, had Occasion: to visit those premises? 

Yes, sit., 

you kindly et at e under what circumstanco when an • 

with Inhom.Tou Went there? A 'was ordered by my superior Officer 

to live' in that hotel, ahd I went there' on the 30th day of 

September, 1915. 



Aot 

.1 01 Mir 

Xt wa in the morning, arOund eleven o 

-approaohed the desk, and tasked if I 

e week. 

The olerk -- it was not this defendant Westervelt Said y 

and I asked him how much it would be and he said it would 

five dollar's. 

Q The clerk was not either of the e defendants? 

wae the day clerk. 

. And I paid five dollars for a week, and he assigned mete 

room 42 on the 'top floor, and I put my bag there, and' ;eft the: 

.and came back to the 'hotel again. that -night. 

I. then, On Oe.tober 2nd, at 11:46 P.4., entered my room, ranG, 

the bell, and was anawered.by the defendant Porter. 

ordered a bottle of esr, ,nd he left -tin room; returned 

shortly with a bottle of beer. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q WI what date was this? A October:2nd, 1915, your Honor.. 

I' said. to him then, "It's kind of cold here tonight. Can you get 

me a girl? Thereought to be .some nice girls around here",, and he  

-sald, ."I'll see What I .can de". 

And he went away and then I heard a knock on the door,. and 

' opened the door, and a young woman was there, and she said, "Jimmie 

sent me". 

said, "All right; ate .1 then rang the bell for this 

defendant Porter agai' and we ordered sop mc r dr inks. 



D 4,Porter come up into your room while this woman wad. 

there? A On this 000asion when I rang the belly after the woman 

came in I rang the bell and Porter came ,to the room.... 

Q, NOw; was -the woman there when he returned to the room? 

Yes, sir. And he came into the room and I ordered two bottles 

f beer; and the defendant 'porter left; and shortly after be 

brought the two bottles of beer back. 

Q: Did he return withthe bottles of beer? A He did.? 

Q was anything.said then? A Then this woman offered. tc. 

expose her person, and, demanded five dollars, which I gave her 
4 

for the purpose of sexual intercourse. 

Q *hat did she do? A She started to take off her clothes,. 

.and she took off, her skirt and lay on the bed, and attempted to 

expose her person, and she told me, "We'll go to bed", and I 

her how much she wanted, and she said five dollars. 

Q 'And did you gAve h -r five dollars then? # Yes,  

Q What happened after that? Did yQU go to bed with her? 

I did ,not 

• Q ,What happened. then? Did she leave the room? 

shortly thereafter. 

Q And what did. you do? A I remained. in the `ro m all the 

of the night. 

. Q. Yee. anyt ing eloe haPpen while lrot.v were in t 1 

4otel? A On October th, officer Reich came .tôlive at the hdtel, 

and ,he was assigned to roan 4E, which was the next room to, me. 



•••••••••... 

Q Well, how:do you 'A Because I waio 

office on thatdayi and h aid, 'T pm daing 

hotel,.. 

Q' Did- 3;Poi see him in ream 14? A No, room 48. 

Did you hate your room there A .Yes„ sir'; room 49. 

Was that. the adio*ing room? - Yes-, air 

004 now, proceed.; what happened? A And on October 12th,.. 

entered the hotel about 12:30,. and I went to,my.-room and, X rang 

the bell, and the bell was answered by the defendant Porter,. 

And I ordered a bottle of beer, and he left the room and 

shortly after returned with the beer, and I said, "Any nioe.glrle 

around to night?" And he said, "No, it's rather quiet tonight, 

but I'll see what I can do". 

And shortly thereafter a knock came.on the door, and there 

was a woman :there at the door, and she said, "Jimmie sent me up", 

and I said, "All right; stop inside". 

And she said, "Are you living here all the time?" And I 

said, "Yes". 

Ana she said, have alother mat downstairs, but, whet I 

get through with him, T will come up to your room". 

And I said, ""Oh, no; you can't stay now at ail", and ho. 

went away, and I went dow taiFs. 

And I met Porter in front of the desk, and. I said "That womem , 

'don't want to stay". 

And just then two women oame up the stairs., and I said p 



a nice oortiing Up now"., and he'. said; 

and, 11 bring '.a woman.up".. 

And, a .ittle while after, a•knock came to the door, and 

found a woman ;here at the door, and she came into the room 

invited. her in -- and she. wanted .to go to bed, and offered her-

$elf for the purpose of rpostitution, and demand a five dollars, 

and I gave her five dollars, and refused to have intercourse with 

her, and  she left the room. 

And, about five or ten minutes. after, I observed thi 

woman knock on the door •of officer Reich's room, No...48 

entered that room. 

Q Did yOu.'see who let -her in? A No, sir; I couldn't 

-from where I was. 
. 4 

Q• On what date was that? A On the 12th. 

Q Of Oct() er? A Yes, sir; 1915. 
• 

"Go back to your 

Q Did yOu see anything else in that hotelwhile you stayed 

there, of that kind? A Yes, sir; on October 19th about 11 P. M., 

I wa,s in the barroom in this hotel, .with Officer Barrett, when I 

heard a whistle, and I looked out in the street, and ,saw the 

woman who I had in the' room on October 2nd, ad she beckoned to me 

and I went out  to meet her, and she said, "Are you living here yet?" 

And I said, "Yes", and she said, "Do you want me to go to your room 

A S 

tonight? And I. said, "Well, I am in here with two friends, 

et two .other . girls, why all right." 

And she said, "I'll see what I can do", and then 



returned barroomiandzpoke to,officerBarret' 

4.4271:44.1414 went out and-waited on the sidewalk. 

And she came:along, arid she said, II can't get no other girls 

And she said, "1&11 go up with your friend", indicat,n officer' 

ett,. and then I will go to your room vith 

And, about 11:45 11*, officer Barret and the woman entered 

the hotel and about 12:15.,*officer Barrett returned palenAl*_and 

About 12:50 this woman cave out, ana then 1 entered'the botel with 

her. 

And at the head of the stairs we met Porter, and the defendant --

the woman;- lid to the defendant Porter, "I thought you said my 

friend left here?" And he said, "I can't keep track of all the 

men in the house". 

then said to the defendant Westervelt, "Let me have my ke 

And 1 said to the defendant Porter, "Bring me up two bottles of 

beer to my room," and the woman went to the woman's toilet, and I 

said to, Porter, "Let that woman come up to my room". 

And a little while after she came to my room, and in my room 

we had the two bottles of beer, and the woman offered to exrose 

her person, and demanded five dollars, which I gave her, and then 

remained in the room until), she left, and went downstairs, and 

observed officer Reich, sitting in the room next to the desk, when 

10,went downstairs. ' 

Q Did you pay the defendant Porter anything for procuring 

tivisc; wornenfQr you? A 1 did, 



Q Rpw mch did you give him?, 

When? A On each occasion. 

° •Ot each Coca ion? A Yes, sir. 

Q Before. the woman came to your room or after A B fo
C. 

Q. Before? A Yes, .sir. 

Q You always gave him a dollar 'first? A :Yes, sir. 

Q•. Now, did you have any conversation with the defendant, 

. Westervelt in reference, to these transactions you had With Porter? 

No, sir; I didn't. 

Q The only time yOU saw Westervelt Was the That time you took 

a womantolfour room? A . No, I,paw, him on other occasi ons, when 

was alone. 

Q Well, did you have women, with you then? A No; sir. 

Q And., So far as you know, he knows nothing about your taking 

women to your room, does he?. 'A .On the last occasion, I came in - 

accompanied'by this woman, and had this conversation: where he Wae. 

standing at the desk. 

Q And: he overheard the conversation between you and Porter; 
do. 

do you believe? A He could have ." He was very close to me and 

Porter, not more than -four or five feet from him and me. 

'Q And what .was he doing? Did you observe? A Why, he was 

just standing there, as far a I can remember at the present time., 

Q And what was it you said to Porter? A T asked the defendan. 

Westervelt for the k y,nd then I said to Porte "Bxin; two 

1D0 tle of beer to My room".. 



thattiae. 

.Q .Did thiswoman speak t ,Mr. Westervelt, the 

Westervelt? A No, sir; she didn't. 
BY TEt COURT: 

Q And. how long -were you at the hotel Mr. Reed? 

defendant 

I got -the room on September 30th, hand we raided the premises 

October 21st; very near a.montb, then, your Honor. 

Q Did you occupy that room every night? A Mostly 

night; not every night. 

Q Did you take your meals there at the hotel? 

very. 

I used 

have my. breakfast as a rule there. They had a restaurant 40141-

Q And did you take your stpper there at any t#e? 

not tver once or tWice, 

BY MR. MACtE: 

Q Have yoU-ever seen th s b6Ok.b 

show you? A Yes. 

Q Where did you see itfirst? A 

Q In whose charge was itl A Why, it was in charg 

day clerk at that time. 

Q The clerk of tb hotel? A Yes, sir. 

Q 'Did you write in that book? A Idid. 

Q Well, will you kindly indicate where you 

what you wrote? A I wrote, "John Re d". 

••• 

wrote my own nam 



e 

is spelled mytame thstead 4 This .hat 

"John Reido U. S. Army" I wrote- that in  the regieter,. 

Then there ds "Room 4t1/ after. the nate._ 

MApEEL I offer . in evidence the signature, "John 

Xeid, U.S. Army", On the, page entitled "Wednesday, -September 

.29th, 1915). continued".-

gR. POSALSKY: No objection. 

(It is admitted and Marked PeO-Ple' s Exhib 

:BY MR. MACEE: 

Q Well, did you have any Other transactions with: worn  other 

than you have described and related here* in that hoten A No, 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSALS1CY: 

Q Mr. Reed, in October, 1915, how long had you been connected 

with Squad 4, Special Squad 4 with which you were then connected? 

A I went with Special Squad 4 in 1913. 

Q And how log did you remain there? A Special Squad 4? 

•Q Yes? A .Until, I believe, it was FebruarreIlido lear 
* 

yes, February 9th, I believe., 

Q' 4d during this time you had been Obtaining evidence against 

• different hotels; is that right? A Yee. 

Q Now, describe this hotel to the jury, the Eastern Hotel. 

.Why, I believe it is a six story building -- I wouldn't say 

Positively --I don '.t know how many rooms they have there. 

On the ground floor there is a barroom, on the corner, and 



Up on 'Whitehall a large restaurant; 

s a deskand a small room1 and also a sMall drinkin 

and a ladies' toilet, and the floors above that were A 1 rooms. 

1w.on the top floor, rooM 49., I am not sure whether it is. a 

five or six stoty building.. 

. Q A large dining room on the ground floor? A Yes, .a big 

room. 

Q. Seating several hundred? A Oh,. I wouldn't say several 

hundred. 

Q Well, about how. mdny? A As far as I can remember, I daould 

judge there was about 12 or 15 tables in it. 

Q In the large dining room downstairs? A As far as. I can 

' remember. It is just approximately. I couldn't say positively 

now. 

Q Al.]. right. Did you have any talk with any of the officers, 
Is 

Reith, Lennon and Barrett, before you went to this place in 

September, 1915? A Why, yes. 

Q With whom did. you talk? A Officer Lennon, I )el ieve it 

Q And d ci you have any talk with Reith about it?. A Well 

I, can' t just remember. I know we had theplace for invest igatio 

o 
'but I dcoon't know now whether it was officer Reith or officer. 

40. 

was. 

Lennon that I went down tiler with. 
, 

We were in company with two women, and we. had something.to 

dr nk in the restaurant, 

• 

d one of the Amen said that she would 



1. 

go uri.:to the rObma through. the defendant .Porter, • that is, if 
A 

anybody •lived  in the hotel, the 'girls wou4d go •up, and,. if';there • 

. was any. or-the met that wanted women, they ,WOuld. tell ;this.. defendan 

Porter, and he  would notify the  women What room to ip to «• 

Q When did you have that. convereat ,iOn? A -• 'WhY, that 40' 

prior to .my going.' to live there': 

Q Bow long.pripr? 'A. Oh, perhaps a week or so. I don't 

just remember ' now. 

,A week or  so before you went to  those pr eml.s es?' • A . T think' 

it. was,. I Couldn't say. It's so long ago I can't exaotiy..rOwembei... 

Q- .And did. you -spend any money. On that occasion with this. 

girl, or these girls? A Oh yes, certainly I spent money. 

Q Did you have any Pale at thattime with this girl thatyou 

were with? A I think I cOuldn t say whether any of us had 

something to eat or not. I can't remember: 

Q Well you say- which officer was with you? A Well I oan 

say whether it was Lennon or Peith; it's so long ago that I have 

almost 'forgotten -- that il have forgotten,_ in fact. 

'Did you t ake this girl / s. name? A No, air. 

Have you. ever seen her since? A No, sirs. 

Did you and Reith then have a talk as to what kind of 

-evidence yau were, going to get against this place? A No, sir, 

Q Did you have any, talk with Lennon and Barrett to what 

- evidence you were going to get against this place? A No, air. 

Q Now then, you want this jury to understand that you had 

, 



la talk with a cartain girl, whose name you don't know 

believe was o:E'ficer Reith who was with yoU a's to how you 

a girl 'upstairs? A I, don't know whether it /as Reith 

Lennon; I don't remember what officer it was . 

Q Well, whatever officer it was, did you notify the proprietor 

of of the ptace that the place was running'bad? A- No, sir. 

Q Did you notify the proprietor. that he was running 

disorderly house? A No, air.. 

Q It is a very large establishment there, is, it not?  A. It 

quite a large place, yes. 

Q And you didn't think it your duty to notify him that 

place was in bad odor? A No, sir. 

Q You did not? A No, sir. 

Q• Now, how many times were you in this place altogether? 

A Why, I lived there over. --

Q From the time that you first went there to obtain evidence 

until you made an arrest? A Why, I don't remember now; 

say. There was a few nights, I believe,. that I didn't stay. there, 

but th:e. majority of the nights I slept there. 

Q You testified that you were. there several nights, and 

also about a week 'before. Were there any other ties than those 

mentioned in .your affidavit? A Yee; I slept there, nights. 

Q And did you eat there? A YPs, I had my breakfast 

lots of times. 

Q Abd smoked- oiars on the city' i money? A Yes -- I don't 



to6. 

And had anumber of ,drinks there, gb 

etting on the city's funds? A Somotim s I went to 

you remember the evidence which you hav gi 

today trOgyour,memory? A No. 

Q You read over your  affidavit? A I refreshed: m 

yes, frog my affidavit. 

Q And studied, your. affidavit? A Yes, 

,And the.testimony which you have given he e today is: 

something that you had put in affidavit form in October, 1915?.  

A Yee. 

Q Who prepared yaxx affidavit on that day in October? 

.prepared the.affidavit. 

Q Did you dictate it? A Tes, 

Q Are you a etenographer? A No, 

.q Did you dictate your own affidavit? -A I dictated to the 

stenographer, yes. 

davit? A He did, guess, himself. 

Were you pros nt when Reith prepared his ffidavit? 

Thatte eareth ng T can't say. 

Q Did you talk over with Reith, before he pr pared -- did 

you eee Reith sign his affidavit? A Why, I don't remember wh ther 

did or not. Perhaps I did; T couldn't say. It so 1on ago 

Memor)r, 

And who Prepared Reed's affidavit or Reith s affi-

Da you know? A I couldnIt say. 



Well, did you talk over with Reith the different details, 

before his affidavit Was prepared? 'A Oh, yes. 

Q And then did you talk over with officer Lennon and Barrett 

the details, before ,their affidavit was prepared? A No, 'didn't 

have to conversation with Lennon, but• I believe I did with 

Barrett, because I was in company with Barrett the night be went 

in there. 

Q It other words, Tyoü made uhatever Barrett did, it conjunc, 

tion with what you did On a particular night, gibe together? 

Is that right? A, No, BIT.;: not neoeSsariiy, but just as they 

happened:.: 

Q And then you Prepared your own afdidmait, as I utderatandf 

A: .Yes. 

Q Anddieatated it? ,A Yes. 

Q. And you had nothing at all to do With dictating Reith's 

affidavit? A- No, air; we made notes 'previous to that. 

Q ‘Nor Barrett's? A lb made motes on the n,ight ofthe 

evidence, and when we 'made up the affidavits, then we had our 

totes. 

Well, after the first night that you had been there, did 

you compare your notes with Reith'sT A No, he wasn't there. 

Q ' Well on the night that Reith was there, did you compare 

your notes with him? A Yes: 

In other words,you talked ver the evidenceyou obtaite ?: 

ler4T 

`d 



170110did you tali over the evidence before did you 

talk over with, Reith the evidence before you obtained any evidence, 

to what kind of evidence you were going to get against the 

place? A No, sir. 

.g You did not? A No, sir. 

Q 'On October 2nd, when Jimmiesent that woman to that room,. 

.and after she exposed her person, she had committed a °rime, had 

she not? A (No answer.) 

Q (Question repeated.):? A She didn't expose her person. She 

attempted to expose her person. 

Q Well,  how far did she go? A Well, she took off her 

skirt, and started to unloosen her stockings, etc. 0 and sat on the 

bed., 

Q Arid then you gave her five dollars before that' or after 

that? A Oh, I gave it to her before that. 

Q Well, she had cotmitted a crime? A Yes. 

And you made no arrest? You didn't arrest her? A No, 

Q Have you ever seen thatwoman since? A No, sir. 40' 

Q Did you, during, the time that you made this visit to tbie'. 
'1 

hotel, early in October, obtain evidence against otheThotels in 

that vicinity? A Why, I was tn the So 

Q And some of the other, hotels in the neignUorhood? A 

the Plainfield, on Washington Street. 

Ferry Hot I, yes. 

Q ZurinL, that time did you Pee the worn you had ,,up izr 



ame woman? Yee. 

Q And you made no arrest of her on October 2nd? 

Q And on October 19th, she went through the earn 

with you? A Yes, sir. 

Andat- that time you already had the evidence against this 

place? A Yes. 

Q. And; you made no arrest 

Q On October 12th you say ifinimie sent a woman up to your, 

room, is that right? A Yes. 

Q In each particular instance you mad.e the suggestion to 

JimMie- to send. a woman up? A Yes. 

Q Jimmie didn't suggest to you that he would send a woman 

r.;., • 
Q But you bribed Jimmie to make this hotel a disreputable 

house; is that right? A I did not. 

Q Well, you gave him a dollar, you say? A Yes., 

Q And Wasn't that bribing him? A No., sir. 

Q Well, .what is it? A Not bribing him. 

f this woman? A No, sir. 

Q Well, you wanted to get in his good raoes, and put a 

large establishment, where thousands of dollars are invested, 

out of business; isn't that right? 

MR..MAGEE: I object to the qUest ion on the ground 

that it is argumentative. 



THE COURT:. Objection pdstained. 

BY .gR. ROSALSKY: 

'Yott,' it each instamce, sug ested the oonverSation about 

ting a woman up to the room? A Yes, sir.' 

Q And you -say that Porter, each time, sent a woman 

BY THE COURT: 

Q What Was the amount that you turned into the Bi4artment 

for the pur*Se of being reimbursed, Mr. Reed, for your stay there: 

at the Eastern Hotel? A Why, your :Honor) I doWt just remeaber 

what the details were. 

Well, approximately? A Well, I had the room for.apprOx-' 

imtely three weeks, at. five dollars a week, and each time a woman 

came up it was five dollars, and then my meals, I think it'w6143 

othething like forty-five or fifty dollars, the bill was.  

Q And that Was for your entire work there? 'A Yes. 

Q And you turned in that bill to the department, and after 

a time, You were paid by the City Comptroller, were you?.. ,A No, 

we are paid up there, sir, in the,Tepartment, at Headquarters. 

,BY MR. ROSALSKY: 

• Q Did you in your affidavit, as to what took place A the 

2nd of October, state that you gave Jimmie a dollar for sanding 

the girl up? A No, I did not. 

Did you in your affidavit state on Octoberi2th, that 

gave Jimmie a dollar for sending 400 girl up? A No, sir. 

Q Did you,, in your affidavit, etat., on Oetobei' 19th, 
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that you gave *Jimmie ,a dollar "for. sifting the girl .up? 

Q You didn't think it was important, did you? 

omitted it It was important, yes, bUt..I just happened to 

it I suppose, at that. 

Q With whom did' you last have a conversation abou 

Do you mean today? 

Q Yes? Why, I believe off ioer Lennon was the 

I spoke to about it. 

Q Did you talk ,this over with Reith and Barrei,t? 

saw Rol h as I came in here. 

A 

Q Where did you get the affidavit to look over? A Why 

have a copy. 

'(). Have you a copy with you now? A Yes. 

Q And when did you get hold of this copy which you have 

A Why, when we make up the, original there is a ways enough 

copies made. 

Q And where did you put the copy? A why, Thad it at /3ome 

,ever sinoe -- I believe the case was on. the 6th of March, 1916 

and it has been home ever since. 

Q 'And when did you last take hold of the copy at your home? 

A Why, yesterday, I got it out. I got a subpoena, Saturday. 

morning, 

And then this evidence -- ever since yesterday you went 

ever your affidavit, and studied it? A Yea, sir 

Q And you studied it well enough to rec te every faothere? 



I know, 

Q Ando outside of studying over;that, affidavit, 

transpired there, .your memory is an absolute blank? A 

it is not, but there are thing! that I °Emit recall, perhaps 

thisat  moment, .because T have had other case of this. kind. 

BY THE COURi'! 

Q You h.ave a great many cases of this,kind, haven't you, 

Mr. Reed? A No, .sir;' this viras the first one of that kind. 

Q Well, you have had a great many soliciting cases? A ,No 

not soliciting on the street. 

Q Have you been doing anything of this kind since you have 

n. married? A No, sir; not since I have been married. 
of 

Q You are out/this clasp of work in the Department, the Police 

Department? A No, sir; I am attached to Inspector Costigan's 

Squad. 

BY MR. ROSAI;SKY1 

Q Weren't you a witness- in several of. the cases downtown, 

when this arrest- was made? A ile• I say; in the I?lainfleld and 

. the South: Ferry Hotels, This was, the first one wheere I lived in 

the premises. 

Q 4, this is the first time you lived in the premises? 

A Yeso-

Q And what kind of evidence did you Usually obtain against 

a hotel? A For soliciting on the. street, and going up to the 

1 With the jjafl 



Q And have you been rather uooeeafu. in t is kind 

with other hotels? 

MR. MAgEE: I object to that as immaterialyir elevan 

and incompetent. 

THE 0OURT ObjeCtion overruled. 

Iwas. sucoessful in this one, yes thatisi in 

getting the evidence. 

..(1 YOU say you were successful in getting evidence? I den 

mean that. Were you successful in getting convictions against 

those other places? A to, sir; not in all of them, to. 

Q Now, in how many cases were you a witness .where you 

obtained evidence against different hotels, by you and your 

brotherofficer going up with the .same woman; at different times? 

A Why, that is something that I never -did. I never repeated: with 

a woman yet. 

Q You never repeated? A No yes, on one occasion in 

Hot 1 Plainfield. 

and tw 

Did you get different women? ,A No. A brother officer 

en and I go up and have a conversaion with the clerk. 

Then you resort to clerk conversations in ortler to get 

evidence against these hotels? A. No. I didn't resort to it. 

Q But in most of the oases you have conversations with the 

k; is that what you relied on? Yes; majority of them 



Q Now) n those cases where 350u went to th 

woman, did the •woman solicit you/ A Yes, sir. 

Q Did yal ever solicit any of the women in those case 

A 'No, air. 

Q Did those women ever solicit your brother officer with 

whom you were? 

(Objected to. Sstained.) 

BY THE COURT:. 

Q I would like to know why you paid this money to these woman, 

after you had these talks with them, and they had done.these things 

in the room. Why did you feel it was necessary par them fivei 

dollars? A Well,. if you don't pay the -women as a rule.,, they 

get suspiciOus,that you are a policeman or something, and they 4te 

to go .down and tell the .defendant Porter that they didn't; 

get any money and that they dan't like that'man up there, Or Bote-r 

thing like that, and then they will get suspicious,‘ and you mon41: 

be able to get any More evidence.• 

Q. But you had all the evidence you nee4e4 for that :particular, 

matter?. A Yes But, your Ebnor, I had to make up my affidavit, 
4 

and if we Came back and the defendant wasn't there', it would cast.: 

suspicion on us throughout the department. 

Q Well,.what disturbs me is your turning bills into the 

Department,. which there can be rip way of cheokiag possible, and 

after that for tbat reason .those who are using publi mbney 



as follows: 

D REOT EXAMINATION* BY MP,. MAGEE: 

or the purpose of criminal prosecutions ought to try to conserve 

is the taxpayers money that is being used, 

to be under some sort of Intelligent check. A Wsll,, we 

your Honor. 

Q But you haven t the names of the %omen, and you haven't 
,• 

the women, and there is no way of checking it. You had nothing 

except to put in your bill; is that' it? A Yes 

And you make your statement that you paid th 

money? A Yes. 

Q And then you have it reimbursed to you? A. Yes. 

Q And that is all that is done? A Yes. 

THE COURT: Go ahead.' 

BY MR. ROSALSKY: 

Q Wouldn't the woman, if you paid ,her, and didn't have 

thing to do with her, be jUst as suspicious about your conducts, and.'1. 

report it to the clerk? A No, sir. 

Q These women were dreised the same as ordinary women? • A Y 

Q Th.eA wa,s filo stamp on them to show that they were pro et 

tutes? A N 

MR. ROSALSKY: That is all. 

L. R E I, T Ho Speoial Squad a witness 

called on behalf of the.People, being duly sworn, testified 

011(• 



'Q, Are you o; member of the MunicApal Poliee Force of the 

.Clity of New York? A Yes,. sir. 

How icing have you been,20.uth? A Four years and four 

Q Are you married? A No, sir. 

0 
Q Where do you reside? A 712 West 180th Street,. 

Q In the Borough of Manhattan? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you know the premises called the Eastern Hotel? A 

-Q Where are they located? A 64 Whitehall Street,. 

In the City, County and State of New York? A- Yes, 

Q Did you have any occasion ever to visit those premises? 

Yes, sir. 

Q And wi 1 you kindly relate the ciroumstances of your 

going there and with whom you wont? A On SepteMber 25th, I went 

there in company with an unknown woman. 

Q Where did you meet.the woman?_ A On Whitehall Street, 

Whitehall ahd Front. 

Q, On the street, on the sidewalk? A Yes, sir. 

Q In front of this hotel? A Near it. 

Q -Near it? A Yee, sir. 

Q What time of the day was it? A About 10:15 P. M. 

Q What were you doing thers? A I was down to sect if I 

eould get evidenc against the premises. 

Who sent you there? A My superior er. 

Who was that at that t me? 'A Patrick Donnelly. 



What was his official title at the time? A 

a First Grade Deteot Serg4.nt. 

And how long wereyou there before you we 

the womaÜ?t.A About half an hour. 

Q,WhLt kind of a looking woman was 

twenty-five years, about five feet four. 

Q And what did she say to you? A She asked me if , I 

for :a good time. 

Q Go on. A I said yes. "Where can you take me?" Andshe 

said, "Right down here", and took me to the premises 64 Whitehall 

Street. 

•Q Did you go to the premises 64 Whitehall Street with her? 

' A Yes, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Where did this happen, Mr.Reith? A On the etre° 

Honor. 

a000sted 

she? A•A wo 

Bsut on. what street? A Whitehall and Front. 

Q How far was it from the hotel? Albelieve it is about 

.a block -- about half a block. 

BY MR. MAGEE: 

About half a block? A Yea. 

Q What is the premises 64.White1al1 Street known as? 

Eastern Hot 

Q Did, you o into ,the hotel?' A Yee, sir. 

Q The sid door or the; front door? A The front door. 
I. 



have you got?" 

It is dn'Whitehall Streetr is it not? A Yes. 

Q What did You do When you g ine de the door? 

oiled 'the desk. 

Q Where was the desk? In the office? A Yes, six.. 

Q And where is the office? A The head of the stairs. 

.Q so that when You go in from the street, you'have 

a stairway; is that right? A Yee..  

Q And at the top ,of the stairway is an office? A Yes 

Q• And who aid you see when you arrived there in the Office? 

I saw the defendants. 

V7hich one? A' Both defendants. 

Q. Lewis C. Westervelt and James C. Porter?. A Yes 

And what took place there? A I- said., "What price rooMS 

" 

To whom did you say that? A To the clerk Westervelt. 

Where washe? A Behind the desk. 

Q And where did you see the defendant Porter? A He was' 

standing at the -desk, outside of the desk. 

And what else took place .there? A I asked the defendant 

Westervelt "What price rooms .have you?" And he said, "Two dollars, 

two dollars and a half .and three dollare• 

And I said., "Let me have a. two dollar room". then waked 

me to sign the register,. which T signed the name of -- the -name of, 

"George, L. biJ?ohoff,And wife, New Yorl, 'Otty". 

Thf defllant Weotervelt opoke to tne• 



1•••• 

ayilv 7:04,apd handed, him some keys. 

The: Unknown woman then said. she wanted t 

wbidb is on the same 

in a short ti e she returned from .the toilet and the 

defendant Porter spoke to the unknownwOman0. saying,- "Did: yoU-

Mabel tonight?" And the Unknown womanbaid;, nWhy?" And , the 

- defendant. POrtex said, "Shp was in. here a little while ago with 

a man who was drunk, and 1 didn't give them a room. She Wad,' 

. here- ,sothe'time ago, with a drunken man, and when they g6t Up in t'he 

room, the man tarted a fuss." 

He then took us to room 37. 

BY 'T E COURT; . 

Q Where did this occur? A This occurred in front of the 

desk. 

BY MR. MAGEE: 

Q Was the defendant Westervelt behind the desk? A Yes. 

Q Proceed. .Did all this conversation take place at that 

time in the presence of the daYendant Westervelt? A Yes. 

Q Now, how fax was he from where Porter stood? A About 

fOur feet. 

And was Porter talking in el, loud voice? 

nia the defendant Zostervelt say anythins? 

Not veryloud. 

A No, sir. 

Q . Did ie ind io4te in any way th ho..hoard ti eonr sat io.i? 

,ndratod you ,ouy r 



and had beenejected? A ,Yes, 

And'were you dhown 0 a rooM there .then? I was. 

Q Did you Pay far the r om? A I did. 

Q Whom did you pay ? A The defendant We tervelt. 

Q And what day was this? A Tbie was on the 25th day of , 

September. 
to 

'Q Did you go to the room? A I did. 

Q Who took you there?- A :The defendant Porter. 

Q Is there an elevator in that hotel?, A There i . 

Yes. What floor did you go to? :A I went to the. --

sure whetbet it is the second or third floor. 

Q Yee. What happened then.? Did you have any other cotversa4 

tions with the defendant Porters? A The unknown woman and the. 

defendant Porter and I entered the room, and the .defendant Porter 

turned on the electric light and then left the room. 

Thile in this room thiewoman aieked me to give her three 

. dollars, and offered to expose herself 

told her I was not feeling v ry good just  then, and -I .wouid 

give her the three dollars, but I wasn't going to do anything. . In 

. a short tiMeI left the premises. 

Q Did you leave her there? A Yes. 

Q In the om? A Yes. 

Q Now, what did she do? Did she tare off all her olo 

No, six. 

Did sh lie on thebed? A ..1\1e0 13 fa-; she 6trted to take 



off her waist. 

she said,. "Well, _COMO 

at did y "No, . I -dcm feel _like 

doing anything 11010! 

Q Well, what about the money? A I had already given.h 

,the money. 

Q Where? A In the room. 

In the room?  A Yea. 

Q In the room you dave her the money?.. A Yes.. 

'Q. Well, didn't you have-any conversation with her as 
4. • 

what the money was for? A Yea. 

Q Well, what-was said there in reference to that? A I said, 

"How much are you going to charge me" And she said "Three_ 

. 'dollars", and I give her the three dollars, and she started to -take. 

off her waist. 

And I said, "Well, don't bother taking off your olothes. 

I_don't feel like doing anything now". 

Q Now, will you kindly look at this book and state whether 

.you:have ever seen it before? A- I seen one like it before. 

Q NO. Have you ever seen this book? Examine it. A I 

couldn't swear that that was the 'book 

Q Have you made a Sufficient examination to testify wheth 

you have seen that book before or not or whether you haveritten 

'anything in that book? A If l'can find my name,' I can identifo, 

the signature:. V. 
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ook then. A Y013,  

Where did you first see that book? A Lying on the desk 

the preMises 64 Whitehall. Street.' 

9 Xnown as the Eastern Hotel? 

' BY THE COURT: 

Q When did you aee it .first, you were asked? A I first 

seem it-- October 5th is where my signature is here (indioati.ng, 

but I don't see where my signature is On :the 25th. 

BY MB'. MAGEE: 

Q Now, look carefully again.. A i don't see i 

Q Look again. A. No, sir. 

Q .When did you see this book before, and where? 

.

 

October 5th. 

Q On October 5th? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where did you see it on October 5th? A :At the premisee 

04 Whitehall Street. 

Q  In whose custody Was it there? A ip. the ousto4y of the: 

'defendant Westervelt. 

Q In the o ff ice of the hotel? A Yes. 

Q Did you write anything in this bOok? A Yes. 

Q Will You kindly indicate where and what you wrote here? 

A ° eorge L, Bischoff, NarroWsburg, New York", 

• MR'. MAGEE: That, is on the page en ;Kled October 

:1915. Now, I will offer the signature in evidence, on 

.e/ytitled, "Tue d4y, Ootober 4,5t110 lia6", on the  

25th; 

page. 



•••••-•.- •••,•••••••••-1,.." 

THE COURT: Received. 

mber 25th 1915? A Yes. 

Q. Where. did you go them? A Ou i' the street. 

Q. Did you see' anyone else there that night thatyou knew? 

Did 'you have occasion to vi-sit those premises at any 0 

Weren't you t4ere on October 5th? 

On how many different occasions were 

from October 5th, October 8th, October 12th and October 

Q 7e11.0 were you there on'September 25th? 

Andyou went back again on OCtober 5th'r 

Q Well, kindly tell us why and under what circumstanCee you 

haok there on Ootober 5th A I went there on October 5th 

orning, .on the morning of October 5th -- and T asked t 

What time was it? A About 7:30 



the day clerk it.I:0914d,ge 

And Tle' said, 'You hairs to ee the other c ,rk,about.that.".. 

Now 1 am making a. miStake. I seen this defendant and I said 

him --

BY THE COURT: 

Which. one, which defendant/ A The defendant WedterVeIt. 

:rAnd I said, ".04n.1 get 4 room by the week?" And he said, "YoU'llf 

have to nee the day clerk about that, but I can giveyou a room,. 

:tonight, and you can see  the day clerk in the morning". 

.AndI signed, "George. -10. Bischoff, N4rroweburg; N. Y.", -and 

I was taken to -room 2.. In -the day tithe I seen the ,ay Clerk and 

engaged a room for -a week, and paid him the sum Of five dollars 

and I was. assigned to room 48., which is on the top floor. 

On October 8th I rang a bell, and the defendant Porter c 

.14 to the room. 

Q *What time of the day was it that you rang the bell on, 

October 8t2.1.,- 1915? AI am not sure q the time. It was some-

whores, I believe, around ten o'clock. 

Q., Now, where was this button or push button, or bell/ 

the room? A It was in the room. 

Q. Well, when you pushed the'buttan, what happened? A The 

defendant Porter entered the Tooth and he said., "What in it you 

wis ? !I And I said, "Bring me a glass of whiskey." 

The Defendant Porter left the room and in a short time he 

ret rneM with the glass of whiskey. 



said, " have something on a- cold night 

•like this to warm him up, when there are no girls around". 

And the defendant Porter answered, "Sometimes there are some 

lk• around. Would you like to have a girl?" And I said, "Yes; can 

you get one?" And he said, "Give me a dollar and I'll see what 

cando". 

He then left the room and a short time aTt r hø returned 

company with a woman. He spoke to me, saying, "How do you like 

ihi e girl?" And I said, "She's all right". 

And the defendant Porter then left the room. This woman asked 

me how much I was going to give her, and I said, "How much do you 

charge?" And she said, "Five dollars". L paid her five dollars 

and told her that when I spoke to the colored man, I says, that I 

felt like having a girl, but I didn't feel like it then'. And 

she said, "Well, then, youhave paid me the money now. You migh 

as well have it". 

And I said, "No: •I,don't •care for the money. I don't o 

about doing anything." 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Well, why didn't you care for the money? Why didn't you 

try to get it back? You knew that you were using it to try 'to 

rt).11 down criminals. Why didn't you get it beck? A The way I 

figured, your Honor, by paying her the money, it would show that 

she wa prostitute. 

didn!t tb ak. that*you had viderc puffic,int up to 4414 



time on that ,point; is tAat, Yes. 

THE COURT' Anything further? 

BY MR. MAGEE: 

Q Now, did you r a yth 

Port r a dollar. 

pay Po g? A gave the defendan 

When? Before he brought the woman in or after? A Before. 

• Now, did you see gfficer Reed in the hotel on that night 

or-ab any other time? .A Not on that night. 

Well now, did ,anything else take place in the hotel' the 

while you stopped there? A Not that 1 remember that night. 

there? 

Did anything else happen on any occasion while you were 

A Yes. 

Q what was it? Kindly state. A On the 12th, of October, 

,I was in the room of, the above mentioned premises,, and I rang 

the bell, and the defendant Porter again entered the room. 

And hp said, "How did you like that girl the other night?"' 

And Isays, "I didn't like her. * She was too fat". And he said, 

"Well,. I can get you a slimmer girl, if you  want. one". 

I says, "1 don't want any tonight, but I'll be back an Monday, 

going away. And if, you want to send one up on Monday yo can". 

Q,. What date ,was that, when you had that oaaversaton? 

That wasthe 

Q Go. on. A So he left the room. 'AndI was in my room , 

on hctobr 12th, andrang the bell, and the defendant Porter 

omme up 

al, • 
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Th t time was it? A I don t rAmember the exact time, 

.'but it waazigIt around ton o clock. 

Ten o'clock?°' Are you positive about that? 

you any recofleotion of the exact time? A I haven' 

'of the time, but .1 know it vas at 'night. 

Q And you were in your room? A , Yes, 

Q: All right . Go ahead. A I rang the bell and t 

Porter entered the room. 

And he said, "Do you want me to get that girl for 'you onigbt?" 

And I said "Yes," and he said, "Let me have a dollar and 

f I can get you, one" 

And I givehim the dollar and he left the room, and in a 

short time a woman entered the room, and said "Jimmie sent •1/10-up" 

I says, "What did he send you -up. for?" And she said, "Why, 

J, 

And I said, . "How much are you going to charge me?" 

said, "Five dollars". 

I paid her five dollars and made an excuse' that I was 

feeling well. She went downstairs and I left the Prem 

she went into the toilet. I seen this same woman go into officer 

Reed's room, which was next door to mine. 

be told me you wanted a good time". 

Q Hod do you know it was officer Re d s room? her 

zc, in 6 

id you see h im go in? A I did, not. 

Id. you thin jr tht .co(ith? A Nk 13irs 



Of the room'? It was 19. 

saw the '44.aMefyirOmAn'thatlad come -into your 
• 

go into room 49? A Yes. 

And you had room 48? Yes. 

Q Well, when did you know that that was oUioe Resd'c room? 

I knew it was, I believe,on the 5th.' 

Q On the 5th? A Yes. 

g. Did he tell youy. A Yes. 

Q And this occurred on the 12th -of October? A Yes, sir. 

, W 11, did you leaveithe room after you had had this conver-• 

sation with her? A I did. 

Q Well, where did you go? A Went downstairs and out 

street, 

Q And did you follow the woman? A No, sir. 

How did  u know that she went to room 49, then? 

her go in from my room. I Opened my door and looked out. 

Q She walked out of your room and went into the next room? 

No, she didn't walk out of my room. I seen her' go in, 

and then I recognied her as being the sate woman that I seen go 

into officer Reed's room.. 

I dor.'t understand that. I uraerstand that you  egtertai 

u women'in your room 'on the night of October 12th'? A The, sir. 

And that subsequently you saw her -o -into .officer Reedlo 

In? A No, before she came into my room, 

vr,11, whwt-. ou? I. the 1L121way? A I opeW the %.11Gor and. 

41, 
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You opened the dbor and looked out? 

Q And, while leaking out into the.hall, you saw 

into officer Reed' room? A 'Yes, sir 

Q And did you see officer Reed let her in? A Yes, 

At least, I saw the "door open, and saw her go in. 

0 How long after did she come in  your room? A. Say ab 

nty minutes. 

nt. Did you Bee officer Lennon that night? A Idon't remember.. 

Did you see him on the 16th? A Yes. 

What was he doing. on the 6th.? A He went into the premises ----"---t 

in company viith a woman; with the rams vklimanthat I recognized. 

as beigg in our rooms on October 12th. 

Q On what -date? A On October 12th, 

Q You saw officer Lennon go into the hotel with- he same 

woman that you had in your room on October 12th? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Do'you knew who was at the desk then? A No, sir. 

Q. Do you know whether Porter was in the hotel then or not/ 

A No, air. 

Did you go into the hotel? .A I don't remember'whether I 

did or not. 

Did you have the hotel Under observation? Ad-dia.: 

Q, From where, and when? A Fr cm September 25th -until. 

_bout October lkb. 

(7),, Vthero.were you stritioncd? A rcr tt Lei.6LLor 



n the ta tr se 

did you's ay in front ofthe doorway of the hotel? 

At times., 

Q Well, what did yoU observe as to the character o 

:people, if anything? A I saw the same women going, into the p 

with, different men, 

Q Well, what door would they go into? A. The front door'. 

Does that door enter the office? 

leads up the stairs to the Office. 

Q And how long would they stay in there? A They woUl 

tathere pometimes for an hour or half'an hour; 

Q And did you see them go in with other men, Later in. the 

day or evening? A Yes. 

Q Different men? A Yes. 

Q How. often? A I seen. one go inte the hotel withthree 

different men, On one oocabion, 

Q. Did you see any of the woman that you entertained in your 

room.in,the hotel? A Yes,. sir; one of them. 

Q: Well, what did you see happen with h r? A I see her go: 

oth. otel twice, with.two different men. 

No, sir; that's 

Were you in the hotel office when officer Reed -came there 

A Yes, sir. 

Q What did you observe, if anything? Who was witb 

I'observed a woman with office Reed3 

Tell; AC.: 7a,L) .c,ffi,c(1 when he.carw.:2 the 

a-

a 



the woMan? A The defendant Westervelt. Idntremember 

whether the defendant Porter was there or not. 

.where were you? A Alongside of the desk, towads t4e 

ck part of the desk. 

What were you doing there? A Just standing there. 

Were you living in the hotel at that time? A I Tide. - 

CHOS.E., FXAMINAt,ION BY MR. ROSALSKYt. 

When was the first time you went to this p aael 

.tember 25th. 

Q., ijVltb whom? A An unknown woman. 

Had you been to this place before September a5th? A 

Q, Did you have any talk before September 25th With any 

the other officers in this case? A I'don't remember.' 

Q -Did you have any talk before you Went to this hotel as 

what kind of evidence you were going to get? A No, sir.' 

fl: Are you sure about that? A Yee,. sir% 

Q Did you have any talk with Reed that'yoli were gothg t 

women sent up to the room ty the hotel boy? A' 1 dort remember, 

Q You don't remember that? A No, sir. 

Will you say that no sUch 'conversation took place? 

sir; 1 will not sayjh t. 

Now, are you:testfyill from your memory, or are you 

:tostifying from readin your affidavit?. A :Both, 

Whenwas,the „lust t:111:c' t c, 



a copy of Your affidavit? A Yes,: 

And what did you. do with it?. A Had it home. 

And when. was the first time you took it up sin 

defendants were indicted? A I.believ I looked over it once., 

When 'the case was on the calendar to bp tried: 

Q How long ago? A It must be.a year ago or more. 

And since a year ago, you didntt-look at it until when 

Today. 

Q You studied everything? A No, sir. 

Q you readit over? A I did. 

And you rely now -on your affidavit? A I do. 

Who prepared'your affidavit? A Why, I:prepared it. 

Q Did you dictate it? A idid;yes. 

To whom did you dictate it? A To our etenographer in the 

office. 

Q. Was officer Reed there at the time you dictated your 

davit? A ; don't remember. 

Q -Did Oa go over the .d fferent facts with officer Re 

before you dictated your affidavit? A I don't -remember. 

Q You don't remember that either? V No, sir. 

, Did you discuss the facts., the evidenee you had in this.. 

case, before you prepared your affidavit? A I don't remember, 

.Q Is that the beet answer you can give? A It is,- 

0 You say you wer solicited by this woman on the 25th day 

of September; is t1i6t right?. A Ye.)si sir. - 

4. 



Q 'A'OhAt timrhen.You were sOliciting, did yOu'havp. 

that you were goinEyto.get evidence against th EaStern 

I pOuIdi 

Q You didn't.sugg at, to this girl that you wer 

evidence against the Eastern Hotel?- A No -sir. 

9 There mere other hotels in the vicinity? 'Y s, 

Q And, not knowing that you were going to get evidence againdt. 

the Eastern Hotel, she led you to the, Eastern Hotel A She did,. 

Q You didn't sleep 'withher? A. No, sir. 

Q Have you, in any Case c).fa hotel, ever tes ified :that you 

solicited the' girl? A No, sir. 

- 4\ 

Q In how many hotel cases have you been a witn es? A Five 

or six. -

Q And in those five or six cases you went -to the hotel how 

many different tikes, approximately? About fifteen, 

Q Fifteen? A Yea. 

And in every one of those cases, the girl always 

you? A Ye 

-Q .You never solicited one of those girls? A No, sir. 

Q And in all of those cases, the girl did not know against 

what hotel you were getting evidence? A She did not. 

Q But, somehow or other, in every instance these gir 

took you to the hotel that you were getting evidence against? 

I wouldn t'say that. 

0, Well, if it r!e.ir ,3 case where your elcle pb,r, r,r, the 



C. 

offIxer with whom,you,had been workin 

hotel, did she take you to the ,e4 hotel? She mi h 

or I might suggest it 

Q Did you ever suggest it in any case, the hotel? 

don't just remember that I have, but I might have. 

Q„ Well, don't you know that you have just testified here 

that in every case you were solicited, and in 'every case she tOok 

you to. the hotel that you were setting evidence against? .4 

sir; I wouldn't say it was so in every case. I have sometimes 

suggested a hotel, but the woman didn't want to go there, for 

some reason; because she had been barred out of there or for 8on.e 

reason or other. 

6 Q And this girl, in this instance, without knowing that you 

were. a police officer, took you to the Eastern 'Hotel, the Very 

hotel that you were trying to get evidence against? A Yes. 

Q On the night of the arrest, you took the hotel regis 

didn't you? A The other officers did. 

Q Well,. you were present? A No, sir; I was not. 

Q Well, you saw the register in the Pol ce Court, didn't you? 

I might have seen it. 

Q But you worein the pOlice court on the day of the arrest? 

Yee. 

Q And don't you know that this hotel register has been in the 

or,, 

ody of the police Department over since October, 1915? A Yee. 

Q Now, show me your rame on September 25th, as having 



'looked before an d I. coul4n't fi 

Q. Well, look 4gAdri Under what.n e did. you register on that 

ray? A George L.. Bischoff. 

-Q "George L. Bischoff and wife"? A Yes, sir' 

Q Find me your name in, that regfater on September 25th, 

A I don't see any entry on the 25th, 

Q And you, signed -- you did sign your name, "George L. 

B1choff and wife", on the 25th of September? A Yes', sir. 

Q You signed your name in there -- withdrawn.' And the next 

time you went to the hotel was on the ,FAh day 'f Octiober;$ is 

that right?' A Yes, sir, 

Q Did you register then? A. I did. 

.Q Did you find your name in the book, registered in the book?' 

but .1 don't see..it here now. 

Q Did you. see it before., when Mr. Magee asked you about it.? 

I. seen it before, but I don't know Whether it was on the 5th 

or not. 

Q Hereis the 5th el Ootober'(tadicating) Look at it. 

A. Yes, here it is (-indicating). 

Q Then your name does appear? A Yes. 

Q And your name appears again on what date? A I didn't look 

at the other date. 

Q What was the aate of the other one? October 12th? 

ir; that was the only time I signed. 



h,,y u only ,signed once, and then you continued 

there, and were .a steady guest?' A Yes. And. the 25th. 

M. ROSALSKY: Is it conceded that this hotel register 

begins on May 28th, 1915? 

MR. MAGEE: No. I will not concede anything about the 

. register in that hotel, Mr. Rosalsky. I.couldnIt do so 

• very well. 

MR.J1OSALSKY: Very well, then; I will withdraw the 

.suggestion. 

BY MR. RDSALSKY: 

'Q Now, how many times after September 25th did you bee this 

girl that you took to the hotel? A Maybe twice or thre4 times. 

Q Anddid you arrest her? A No, sir. 

Q Wab she dressed any different than. any other woman? 

A No, sir. 

Was there any sign or appearance on her Which would indicate 

that she was not your wife? A No, sir. 

Q Now, the second time you went to this hotel was on October 

8th -- at least qrou were there on October 5th -- but on October-, 

8th you had Jimmie send you a woman; is thatright? A Yes, sir. 

Q. You started the conversation with Jimmie, is tbatri ht? 

A Yes, I did. 

q You bribed Jimmie to send you a woman? A No, sir, 

Q, 706 paid Jimmie a dollar to send you a woman? A Yes, 

:Q. You don't like the Use of th,7, wo'd "bite"., dt-ypu? 

14,0.0 
d.



Q. JimMie at that time made no suggestion' t 

wanted to have a woman sett to your 'room or not? A tee. 

Q What do you mean by yes? A Hs- sp,id, "Would you like 

have a girl?" 

•Q .Didn't you open the conversation with Jimmie? A I did. 

And didn't you tell Jimmie that you would give him a 

dollar, if he sent a woman to the room? A No, sir. 

Q Now, as a matter of fact, officer, did Jimzni end -a woman 

to your room, or take a womah to your room , on the 8th or 12th 

of October? A He did. 

Was there a woman in your room when Jimmie brought you 

drinks on the 8th or 12th of October? A No, sir. 

Q There was not? A No, sir; not when he brought me drinks. 

Q Well, did you order any drinks after the woman was there?. 

No, sir. 

How many times did you uee the woman after the 8th day o 

0 i;ober, who was in your room? A Two or three time • 

Q Ard you were working in that vininity7 A Yes sir. 

Q And you didn't arrest her? A No, sir. 

Q Have you over gone there to try to arrest her? A No, 

Q 

She had committed a crime? A Yea, sir. 
, who. . 

On October 12th, the woman/was in your room? Row m' Y 

.times did you say? A I don't remember just how many times. 

I seen her around that neighborhood different. times, 

W ,1 about how many times? A or three,. tus. 

4 



And you aidt t arrest her r. 

She had oommitted a crime? A Yes,. sir. 

Q And you didnit make any arrests on September 25th, 

October 8th, or October 12th; is that right? A Not JD that 

.place. 

Q You had already obtained evidenc against the place, had 

you not/ A Yes sir. 

Q And still you didn't make an arrest of the woman? A 

Q. And in.each instance you paid ycur money, the County's  

money, and you didn't have any intercoarse with the girl? A I aid. 

Q Didn't that appea withdrawn.  Did you.haVe any talk with: 
, were 

Lennon or Barrett as to what kind of .evidence you/going to et 

against this place? A NO, slr 

Q Now, I will ask you once more: did you have á.ny talk 

. with Reith? A I am. Reith. 

r With Reed, I mean. As to what kind of evidence you were 

doing to get against this place? A No, sir; not that I remember. 

Q Ater leaving the place, did ygu 

vqhat you were going to testify to? A I did. 

a me or an duM of 

Q There is your memorandum.? A I made a me,morandurn* on 

sl, p of paper, and I •ma...de the affidavit in the office destroyed 

tbe paper and ,made a meniorandum in my :b ok, at the offic 

0 And have you got that book withyou? I have. 

And; have you got everr conversation in that book that you 

.1)4vz, in your affidavit? A About, pretty n.ar.everytn4n6.' 



u say -you paw Several women, during the time that 

were stationed here go in there with different men? A. Yes, 

c. And., you knew those women to be prostitutes? A I did. 

Did you ever arrest any  of those women? A No, sir... 

Q,• Had you ever been in Court when they were arrest, and. 

charged. with prosittution? A No, sir. 

Q Then how. do .you know that they were prostitutes?, . A Be-

cause one of the women, one of them that I had in my room, asked 

me for ,money. 

I see. Did. you follow those women into the hotel, to 

whether they went into a room with another man? A  No, sir. 

Q Then you don't know whether they did or not? A No, sir . 

Q How many days were you around those premises? A From 

Septerrber 25th until but October 19th. 

Q, Arid you 'had some expense very day while there? A 

I tie. 

You had meals? A No, sir. 

Q Didn't you have any meals at the place? A No, six. 

You had' no meals at all? A I did _not." 

(ft', You did not? A No, six. 

Q. And are you Nur e about that ? A I am po sit lye . 
•• 'T-

O And what JO your name? A My name is Georg Reith. 

D  you pay for any rnea1 Ti that place? A T don't 

beldPv.F I '91c1; not that place. 

yqu p y for ir'al' r. :,.aky 0 th pr •plu.cC, ar.1,1 



0 • 

for theth in this soy'.. might hay 

Q Did. you have maals.everyday while 7 
a 

aon t remember that I might have had one meal. 

u were .'thee?. 

'Q •You might have had me meal? A A day; no more tnan that. 

Q In this place? A I wouldn't say in this place. I am 

pretty sure I never ate anything in thejalace. 

Q Well, you were sent to watch hi. place; thatright? 

To get evidence against this place. A If possible. 

Q And you-want this jury to understand that you 4id not t*e. 

.3roUr meals there,? There is a large reataruant there? A Yea, 

Q And you didmIt have any Of your meals in this place? 

No,' sir. 

Q Did you have any of your meals, away from this place? A I 

might have. I -stayed down there a couple of nights, and I might 

have had breakfast, av I might have charged it against.this plac 

Did it occur to you, the first time you wentthere, to tell 

the proprietor of this place that th.are was something:thematte 

with the running oonditions ef the plaoe/ Noo_sir. 

You gave him no chance'whatsoever? A I Ws working un 

orda.ra. 

'Q 'Did your superior notify him that he was running., house 

of asuignation? A Not that I know of. 

MR. ROSALSKY: . That ip all. 

TT r FOURTH JUROR: 

c it that you arrest a wom.an that co 

4- • 



,Beoal,ase, f tile arrested the wOMan 

at the time that she commits the crime,the hotel would get to 

kriow that w were obtaining ev.denoe.against the plade-. 

-))T TH.E FIPTH- JUROR: 

Did you I would like to know on what eco s ion you went,. 

said, 

"I would like to haveA glass.oflaisskey" "AAllow has to have 

something, a cold night like this". Was that the same ocoasi.(m: 

as When you denied to Mr. RoSalsky that Jimmie got- the girl?. 

Be&aUse, on that occasion you suggested to Jinimi to get the gi 

sand then you said on another occasion, he got the girl. Was that 

the same occasion? A No,. that was on the 8th. I didn't deny that: 

into the hotel, and when Jimmie came up tothe door, you 

Jithmie got the girl. He brought her up to the room on that ocoa-

sion and he asked me, "How do you like this girl?" 

•REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MAGEE: 

Q I show You this book and ask you to exaMina the page 

entitled ''Wednesday, October '6th, 1915", and indicate if you 

wroteon that page? A Yee, sir. 

Q Where? A Right here (indicating). 

Indicating the second line? A Yes, eii. 

Q. And what is written there? A "George L. Bischof 

rlowsburg, N. Y." 

cI And do you see under the h.adIng "Room" a numb Yes. 

what ;j, the number? A 48. 



rt.- nk••.re t• < • • •• 

yOu know .who wrote: that? yA r. 

'Q Is that t6 root that you o oupied'permaneutly? A Yea. 

Q, I ehOwyou'a.page entitled, "October 5th, 1915"-, and point 

o tle line, "George L. Bisohoff, Narrowburg, New York",  tinder 

the title or heading "Rome., "A-2" 'and ..ask you if that is the • 

room whichwas assigned to you on that date? A Yes, sir. 

'Q And whioh you kept for' the night? A Yes, sir, 

Wae that, assigned by the defendant to you? A It was. 

Q :The defendant Westervelt? A Yes, sir. 

Now, do you know whether this is the same register which 

s in the Hotel Eastern., on the night of September 25th, that you: 

claim to have signed? .A Yes. 

Q Do .you' know whether this is the same register whioh was 

the hotel Eastern on September 25th,' 1915i Which -you claim you 

signed? -Do you know -whether it is or not? A It is. 

Q How do you know it? A By my ej,gnature being in there.. 

Q lé your signature hereon September 25th, 1915? A No, 

Q Well then, why do you say it,is the same register? A-

. identify it as being there on the 8th —çn the 5th of October, • 

rather. 

0, And still you maintain that you signed your name on the 

1? A I take that baoki and I signed my name on the 25th, 

°nit eee mk name and therefore I can't say that it iu 

the dame. book, but it looks like it. 



Were there any other registers in this hotel besides 

thi6 one? A I didn't see any, 

(The Court then aamoniahed the jury in. 

accordance with Section 415 of the Code 

• of Criminal Procedure, and adjourned the 

further trial of the case to Tuesday morning 

ApTii 16th, 1918 at ten-thirty o'clock.) 

to* 



REsumED: 

let l018. 

W I S A. B A R RF T To Of Squad Three, Detective 

Bureau wit ese call d On beheaf of the -people, beitz 

..duly sworn testified as f llows: 

f.)IRT"-EXAlaNATION BY 7.T..  

Are you A meJ:.ber of the Muni iPFJ. Po110 Foroe of the. 

, New Tork? A I km. 

Row lonc; have you be z. 1 Abut four years and 
• 'NI 

Are you mq.rried? A I am. 

1; How long, have you .been v:zried? A Ab(Alt eleven. years. 

Q 'aVe you 7Lny children? A.I have.. 

17,2vre you reside? A In. 798 Underhill Avenue; :Brooklyn.. 

Q Do you kno,*! 

Q The're are those prep.:teas looted? 

premiaes called the Eastern Hotel? A I 

Number 64 Thi 

In the CL,y and Cc.unty of the Ste New York? A YeSs 

'Did you. :?,ver hve occoion. to visit 4thos. premises? 

I did. 

y u kindly 'state unde-:•what oiroumst7,noes, when and 

with Whom you went there? A Atcu ,'.'ot(,ber 19th; 

19150 in vzu.pary wit') Tatr,lman 3 hn U. Reed; at that time attaohod 

t. ,lotive Squad 4, we vi*t an unknc:94) womar, in -front of the 

:1,..rt 1 64 W1i 1trhJ. 1itr! 



a 

‘. 

-;00a lady friend for your friend her 

gPot,74r0 f r and,. when I coMs dawn, -I wiil ta4. y u 

."411- Tight" 

-A:hout 1 454 I entered the notn1 ,11':ranc Tito the wom n, 

and- wtnt up one flight upstairs, and turned Y. the.rikh and 

ot6pp&d in a little room, adj±nin th offiee. 

t:Ice him• 

I wae approched'by the defendant Porter -who. aske, "What-

cd1T you have"? And we ordered rbund of drinks. T ilnknowi . 

tber eaid t. the d fe-ndant Porter, "Can I have a  

ndant Portr rePliedp "Stay here .a minute) I am 

going onetairs and I will be ri27- up." 

And ho went ar:ay,and I then 4-ert ''rutsids•to th. ffice,,, and 

met the defendant - 

C.?, Th' fercIant Weatervit'T A Ys And I asked the de-

fendant Westervelt if I could h,w a.room, and h said, "Go inside. 

it dr..Wn f7)r . moment." • 

A short time after at he ..Pcrter come in And 

said, "RI !t this way," and.br'u ht the unknoTn roman an. myself 

to tbe clerk.' ,ffice, where the def ndant restervit was StandiPg, 

'at.thl de 

; 

The •lef.n it Westervelt ;urne1 a 1_,rse.bcok ar)unl.,and said 

yc-r n1,7; here", which T. did. 

T t;lijacd the name of "He.nry H. Joason". 

I then l'ld 'down. the pen, anl the defendant Westervelt 'Oaks& 

Ind,I looked at the defendant, and I rdickel .up ç+ and

"I not , thiB." 



TY,MT. 

BY liffir rirvORT: 

And 'vv/10m di,C1. you oa:‘,,thtc.)? 

Ana

 

the defend= 

The defen4,4nt Wes erYelt. 

e tervel then'saic "The room. are ,two thms 

,our dollars apiece," and ',said, " A two dollar r)pm *ill do 

" and handed him:two orr do1Ir bills. 

The defendant Westervelt: then s id to the defendant Port 

".R4Jom number 1", at'the saMe tim handin him a key. 

And the defendant Porter then escort-4 the unknown vio 

myself, to roam numb 

desk, 

the first room tc the. right of the'cl 

And while in this room, unkry„-yn woman denanded the'suM-Pf 

thr. dollars for the purrap.e of prostitution, and offered t 

expose her perscAl. 

TIET 

Q And was that 'said? ,Dia s'h 

-tution? A She detnde.• 

the purrose of pro ti-

hr.,e doll r- for hi„vinz intercourse with 

Did she osay that? A I s fl&w nuch are you.,o'SQ. 

-!harge'T" An  she said, "Thv.o,e da _ars " 

Rv 14, 7AE. 

T Torilin did You first know that. this wotan yitas,a-,prcstitute? 

A When she sp61“ to Patrolman Reed and no self. Before that he had. 

.told me that he had net the ,Poman,,and that she was coming haok, 

0 % He told you whan and whe.re he had met her? 'A He said he 

-had met her around the hotel 

• Didh siLy, ho.had an apcintment wit sir 0;h4. 



ot.46 she would be ba0k. 

Oh, 1,1 said she vVoild be baok? A Yeej.eir 
# . 

Q. SO4, when :ou got in the room, you had's, oonversai n 

her, did you, about what you were going to do? A Yee, sith, 

Q, Well, wha+ were her words, what did she say? A I asked 

her how much she —as charge, and she said three dollar 

to, 

,Q Did she take off her ol FrA lir: ehe.attompted 

iS that?. A She attempted to t'k.  o-ff her Clotb.i.n.. 

37. THE OWIT-: 

.Did you 'prevent her from drqng• it? 

• By 711.LA FF' 

olhb.t did you, say to, h I ,.id, I idr •'iink 

actingright  that I had a-7ife, and I had changed my. rAnd, 

I got up,there, chand rryiin aa t  what- T. 'wanted to do. 

sir. 

Well, how long di:1 you aty in the bedroom altoy,ether?' 

A About eip:ht or ten rdnutas., 

0 Who left. first, She or you? A I lid. I left alone. 

left her in the room, 
her in 

You left'the r-om? A. 

r$, Did' you see her aL;ain- on that niht'?A the 

dewalk in front of the hotel. 

Q What -did she do? A .91a was sreakin,y to -Ratrolman Reed. 

Did ydusee what they i(1) if nything? A He talked to. 

her a few minutes and then Patrolr;.ai!. 7 d and ter entered the 
p. 

Premises, and went up tairs. 



ents.x. ed.? A Yee,Oir* 

which door is that? The one on Whitehall Street. 

A Yea air; "Hotel entrance's it aye. 

Q. "Hotel Entrance"? A Yes, sir, 

Q Now, when you .got -- after you went int the entrancei 

whom:did you see ther.R., when you brclught the. woman in.? A 

first saw the 'defendant, •James Porter. 

Porter was in the ifice• was ho? The d f ndsalt 

,Westervalt was at the desk• the clerk's desk, snd the"colOre.6 

. Porter, was by the little room, and the worizm asked Porter if he 

could have a room. 

did. she say? A ,She said.,  "Can T.hvo irobm? ' 

'Did she say, "Good evening" first? a1r hC didn 

W.InQATsyy: I object 'the Die'LrAct Attorney 

witnebs„ . 

77. -nURT: Tell, he ia throu3h now. 

"Y "Aorr: 

Q, just tell liEs That conversation, aS near ae ypu canitoo-X“ 

place between the defenaant Pcrter and this women, while i .tiu; 

of:ice, before you went rc•om? A Well, thl,s was in t'm:, 01.0 

room, in a little driLkins room, ',11t rirht rzf the offie. 

She said 4o the defendant Pnrt.e, "Olh I rpomr and 

,the defen:Iv4 Portsr 

P11 b rif:1 4* 

t until 

4. 



nY opuk: 

Q, How -do you remember these things with suCh nic 
versation *and matters that took place so lon-: ago? A I just 

refreshed my memory, your,Hcnor,outside. 

- . 
Q use the langua,7e, or,purpert to use the exact languaTe, 

that you Used in October, 1915? A I don't know as it is the: 

exact lalruage„ but Iead -the affida-Jit before I 'come in; othor 

wis couldn't remember some of it; but her .I did; it brought 

-back the scene to ILe...! 

By  

0 No  was this woman veiled crunveiled? A Unveiled.. 

Was -that office well lighted? A, yea sir. 

Can you see a person who stands near you in. that office? 

A Yes, 

And you Say you had drinks in th, little 'room? A Yse.,(41,. 

O,

 

Who brought the drinks to you? A The defendant Porter. 

Q Did he 7o out and: fetc 'the clerk., Westervelt? six 

he brou3ht ua inte.the clerk, Westerv 

-Ohl h brought you intc. the oJork tervelt. A Yc, ;AT. 

.Then you had te trrisactiori abut room? A -Yes, a.i.ro 

Have you ever seen this book before:, (indicating)? A '(14o 
* 

anower),. • • 

:NY T.I.W 

Have you:or not? Don't. you kno":? A, I don't know by 

T can tell, if I see. my name in it. 



judt oubb an inquiry? 

'Haven't you seen it ince 91 ; 1 hh,v'e not. 

LY MR. MAGEE: 

0,, Go ahead and lock. What 1at wae it? 

Where is the oamein, it (1nAioatin)? AThere 

'AFnature (indicating). 

HavoD you ev•,,r st“.1n book before? fAr4. I iav 

Where dirl ycu flret se. it? A In t Fas+ern Hotel. 

When? A October 19th. 

Did. you Wtf wayt'-.inE in this book at that•t me? A I did* 

Will you kin'ly exa2line -his book, and indi ate where you 

wrote., and wh-., you wrote? A 'Henry H. J7eson and wife, Brooklyn, 

1 . On the' third line on the page entitled, 

TueSday October 19th,.1915, room A-1'1 I will offer the. 

imiature in evitenoe. 

tt 

L4 PrTALPYY 

THY MOT: 

No objection. 

oeived. 

(It was zarked Peorie's.E.,chibit 

0 7S TXAMIFATT R(' '1'Y: 
. • 
Where h t is.Police rlott,F.r rather, thi S r(iister 

eince the. arrest? A I believelt hae hen up .in tbe 

]' ti Attorney's. 'ff. eel 

, 

It has been. .under the control .f thE. ))iztrio4. Attrney? 

sir. 

Awl 
Y 

? 

1411 

• 



• 

Til.•••••TIr 

n.hoW many cases have'you'obtained evidence aainst 

ht tele? A Against hotels? 

Yee. A  Well, I don't know exe.otly.hiow many; quite _ 

11. Well, about? A Well, I should judge, say abo'ot ten 

twelve; somwher,.1 around that. 

And in those ten or twelve :3ases, were You solicited in , 

very instance by the .Woman? A Ys, sir. 

How many' women solicited you :in those tenor twelve 

cases? A That T couldn't say. 

Q. 

About ho T mny? A I d(Al'-t'know; at least twelve 0.I gliess 

And in no instance d1-7 you scliit any cf,those women? 

A Nos sir! 

Q And, in each-inStance at that time -the woman didn't km* 

that you were. a police of,ficer? A No,. sir. 

Q' AnT3 in .ach instanc -,y.o,J7bt-,..11ned evidence' of that 

kind, zgainst different botels? sir. 

And you iian" tell t':.e 77orafi that'solicited you, 

aLi-st this  hotel. you '7ere •a.inin:..evidence? A No4 

, q-.Bu someho'7 or other,. ths "ioman took you the )7)qt1 

against which you .7erp obt44nin.l. evidence? 

What's that? A Y a,' sir. 

In no inaliAwce did. yoi su.st teD? A Ac,. 

A Etv, 

(1 And, without knowing the you'were,a policofficer„. 

Alithout kno,A.n.that you -rere obt9ining 

wom.an - 1 



not ,11111.0h 'you ':.fe:v:e obtaining evidence? No; if one 

licited me to take her to, another hotel, I 'ouici AroP ho, 'Ind 

try to et solicited by anothermoman that would t,ck u o the 

I waS.gattinir evidence against. 

Q •Now, you workel with other officers, didn't you1, A Ys. 

Q •And did it occur- ln.every instande,:that the woman that 

zoli(lited your brothr officer, and took him to a certain 'hotel 

it not a fact that that woman took yOu to the Very hotel lt/hera 

your brotherofficer had been?- A No, sir; not all the time. 

No? A No sir. -

In every affiaavit t at you have male out a?;ainet •a hot 

is there any such thing that thevicrtan aidn't te you .to the. • 

..same hotel? A Do you rx..an the sake woman that was .in,.-71-th the . 

officer hkifcre? 

a. A No, not that I knorr of. 

• .n -0.an. you 7ention anyaffift vit aan you mention the caSe 

in .whiah the lot= .,ke you t. the BIR.M5 hotel?  A -Yea. ei,r, 

n. 

Wh2t ca$e is that? A In the case of he and‘Ge tral 

Hotat..43r Street and. Third Avenue.. 

Is that the only. Qne? A That'6 one-i remember 

just.now. 

Wry?, whfAt is the name of th,a. .fendtint in.thRt cu? A 

just rnbol e:ot •1.' i qult.:, a wbil-

of' 

4. 

t 

A - ) 
i;tf.1.1 tts 



1 have book but It io r4() a boo t of those as0, It 

. a lrAer d4ta. 

.Q Now,  then, how o'an you tell there Wae nly ane imVtunce 

,4vho-e th wotan didn't te4o' you tc the .hotel that  you were. .get 

a..;ainat? A- Only one, that I r call now. 

Now, as m- tro: r.f fact, if I can locate the  affidioxit wUl 

•ite OT that that occurrence 4td net take. place? A - It -Cer-

tainly will not. 

But, except in this particuls,r .inatance,, without knowing . 

that you Tere a police officer, n.:1 .7ithout knowin that you ,were:. 

. :gunning for. a particular. h• tel, and '7ithut you -.2 a lialtin,,T the - 

woman, ahe tc,ok you the : 

aFainst, .with this one i There- my b othre but 

don't rereber.thet just now. 

.Q We  you a wi'Alese in the But  Ferr:; -tel case? 

I was not. 
• 

vc, --re ;ettin- evidenoe 

Were you a w ,Ilese in the‘rt,?..vena Hu .e case? ANo, 

Iwas not. 

Now, at the time you ,bads btin1. viaenc R:yainet 

eviaence. nat this lCc, on r'th of 

Ow. 

0<.:tober, you. knew that ,Barret and Reith mi fennon -e?:e wl)rking 

on this caLle/ A Yee, 1 lid. 

q Ana you know t"ot 

4ember.25thi A Yf, 

And you knev 

Dir. 

worRing on I;hifi 



Thetis whydidnst you - and'you didn' 

wom4n on;the l9th of October, Who hril solicited yoU? A No, sir. 

Q Now,  dppyou want this jury to understand tLat you told 

this defendant Westervelt at ,.he time that you arrested bit, whet 

he Asked you to put down "'and wife" that-you said yol, iyere not 

used tp d.oin this? A He didn't ask me to put down "wife0 

sUd he looked at .re, and I. looked. at him (illustrating) and I 

put do n.oWifen, and said to him,"I an, not used to eicAnci: this'.'

And then he allowed you to .,ome into the hot -1 with a 

woman?. A He -did. 

Q, Did you' go up he el -atr.), A  

Q Is there an elevator in that hotel? A I don't knor4 

Did you see any elevator th-r...,? A Not that I reneber... 

Now., after you left the room with the woman, where did. you. 

go?. A I left alone, and went outside of the hotel. 

Q. This woman was dressed like any ordinary woman? A )res, e 

And therP: were no rarks +hat indicated that _She as .a 

protitute? A N 

G r (")I G N N- 0 N, of Special Squad 1, a tr 

called on 1)1-1 lf of the People, bein::; duly sworn, testified - 

134  folloWs: 

NRAO- 1XAMINATION 13Y'1AGFE: 

Mr % Lennon, tre you a me.mber of theHviuDicip1 

F. r(.3.? Citd 

l'0,1.1(1t% 

«A147.A., 



.1 

HOiv lon3 have  been suoh A.Going 

Ae youmriii)d? A I. 

Have you any children? sir. 

How many? A One. 

Where do you reside?' 

Do youJinc.-; the premisea called the Easta n Hote17*A 

Where i8 that sit ,t,d? A 64 Whitehall Street. 

In the BoroUgh fMarihattan, County and City of New York? 

A  

gave you ever bad-occasion to visit those prtmiaes? ^A 

did. 

Q Will you kindly state under what circumstances, When and 

with whom?  A .Abut 10 P.M. o.n October 16th, 1915, I-was-inthe-

vicinity of Whitehall Pea..!, stert and I wae 

by a woman and invited to !ocompany her to the .ern Hotel 

64 Whitehall Street. 

Byyrnt COURT: 

Q. And what was the. 1915. 7e untred. 

t., hotel, -and -,,nprr—tche th ak, whe:17?, ie ti1fen1ant 

Westervelt. 

Tho difenlant Westerv lt said tu mo, "Step in theP.$", indic 

small room najcAniilg th t&lleck, • 

tile in this ro0M0 vve were served 'ith a :Trink by 

4iLialt Porter. ,, :rtly ft -r, 

„ XOOM 



eft the room axi4 phortlY 

ivurneri and beoon d to me, saying, "Step is way,0 md esoprted' 

u.ø to the hotel dltk,- where I than met the 

said, tc) the lefendant ViresterVelto "Can 

. Juict he said "Yee:" 

. I then .asks J him the pri P. of the ,r was& and he Said "Two, 

•c.nd a half, and three."' 

•I maid "Let Mv: hn.ve t.To dollar room." He th n alreoted 

.!; k -IT) .re ster, d, siguins the name •Of"joihn 

I. CO'IrTfay". 

And then the .:iefendant Westervclt re, yoli 4010" 

anl said, "No , .111ve a woman with me • " 

An. I then wrote the wC1d3,."w1f. :Jklyn", tfter the 4amek 

I-had alrea4y igned, 

Anc I then tbe i Te nd ant J 'r 73? t two io 1 ar 

p-.yment .for the room. 

The defendant W rvelt illa.nd.ed a key 'to ortex, and PoItr 

said,l'Come thio way", and esozrt 'us bh t 47. 

• The iefe dant ,hen anft Whi1f;? in this roolh0. 

unknown --,om n did am rec .idve th.t five dollar sl If'ortb.e. 

pu7t-vete of prt1titicn. 

Aft( vm-i.in1n::;-in-tn)..roum shJrt xhili ?,1 laft the promi-ovY4 

and 3.r.t1.n ,1,-)oth lown tk., desk I then left the: 

"..i.ta you if you hpArt • 



1)0:gore?' Yeo or n 

When did you seeit? A On October 16th. 

Q. Where? A 64 qhitehall Street, Eastern 

Qj Did you write$lnything in this' 

inlicate what you 71rote?A The,. 

1gnatuz'  that T used. (indio.st 

Nnw then, answer my question? 

'o9klyn," rivht there (inlicating). 

1.!ArTE: The 12th line on page enti lei "Saturda 

OctAiber 16th, 1915.. Room 17." will offer tt ig-

ure.invisnOence 

YWALPKY: No •:)bj-

t is admitted and markel 

ORS EXA7TaATT()N BY '"-OALM4T: 

you kno7 Where the re later of the hOtel has been 

kept aver since the arr'est? A 7.53o sir.; T ser, where it,wlmefrom' 

A. - In the Diric- Aztr)rney' s. ofi 

A:cld it has. ban ut thep,)sesJion of the 

ever •since the day of t)e arrest? 

Now, you w're dressed in.civilln cIothas 

ArA yc,:.-were solicAtai at wha7 stre!k1;? A Pearl inc.  

Whitehall Street, 

.The 'voman, ,Tho ,:olOited you., didn't know Omt you 7rJra 



She did.,ul 

th hotpl? A No. 

Q Bow many bl'oeks_is Pecirl 9-trest vway fxomtb 

A On or tweI am not sure. 

• Q. 

it not m re than 

Or four? A N 

BY '_THE COURT: 

.q Did you have any oxA.L relations -ith this woman? A' No ' 

three? A N . 

YOUIY nom 

By P1,. RoSALSKY:. 

Will you n7v71-1 thesr:: stre4ts from P.arl ..ysn to where the 

• hotel is,what streets you have to icas3 by? A That, I cannot 

*there not 9ri Street? A .I am not sure. 

WaterStreet? A I am not sux 

Is there no  F-cnt street? A I don't kn 

y u.kno* whers the St vens.H.:_ue• is? A- • Yes, eir. 

Wasn't that neate that v' t.1 t11 whore you mert 

lioited? A No. 

Q 'How manY blocks is the 8toven:3 Hou3e away frm v4ers you Were' 
• 

eolioit3d7 A, I should judge abut r 1 ut mao ks; L swp 

,You are not sure? A iolpil; 

Q, Well, wasn't the south frry HOt1 n-larer to wiler yov 

,soliott1. than this moe? •Wh.it!re , the South Ferry " 

.0nrner Of ,000ro -411 

Sri 



Street 

,17 

? A Well, 

th(:) hotel. 

Well thre are other hotels in that vicinity where you 

solioited? A 

cz, Is that right? A No. 

Q-Thert are no other hotels in that vicinity? A On.  

the. accomodation of men.. 

t's all tbat Y;t.zu 

Q And you had be.en whin 

long? 

Q And, withou, 

fAr. 

i4 ..7"t,dirict. for  

W 110 that a only ,)(-;aion remkber.- 

yii 

;that you vere tting evith:Ln 

Q You kn w that you wa tel 

.time, did .you not? A T ei 

-Ao.k you t the ,p1as.0.. 

Eay: Aot 1 

You knew. that Officers Lenno] liarrett, and Pith had been 

'rio 'king,3etting evidence. a3ainet -hat hotel, since Sep tmber-25th? 

A / did. 

Q And, withcut ny am stion 'n your part, she took you• 

hotel Where you anted to get evidence? A She did-. 

Q. .She: evid ntly kne. hOw your mind psrating at the'time? 

don't know. 

Q Now, in how.Man,y of thO.se 3a,$3 :lave iff..;u. 1-7ten vidence? 

A I don't know. 

Abut how i.iany? A Probb1y five or ten. 

Q Now, five or ten is quite. lee7ay. Was it ten? A I am nct 

UX0 counselor 



'!:!.1EJ it more, than A. I auess it was'. 

Was it more than seven? A ,I don't know, coune or, 

Q Wel? was it three,fiVe,or‘ten.. It makes*no.difference, 

whateverto me, How many women did you take to those different 

hot'els that you were jet.tin evtdence aTainst? A  One.. . 

Only one women in all that time? A One women pn ea h 

,000,51.43ion. 

‘;1 Then only tne woman t,...ok teli that yo t..1 

gettingevicthnoe-againat? A I only 1..)(,:4 on6'*-oman t the hotel, 

in  each ins cc 

f".. And, ineach 

et 

.:voman a, li it 1. .'rOUl A -.Yes. 

Q And :you didn't olioii thewoMan in ..:„ny instance? A No. 

Q *And on each occasi n tbe * men took you — tt; .'iotel that. 

yo\i7ere attin,7 Avidence. ca,ainet? A ot in c,.„11..occt-ris.: 

YOU  

On haw did she not tIke yol 

tting evidence? 

the k;ainst 

A 1 joflttrCiriombor. 

there'are only iivoases) .rti,n'a 

you eccn't remember?. A -laid about, frlm five.tr.) tea. 

Q And you said about ten, too. Are you uncertain abdut how 

.many? A Yes, T'am. 

Well, in how many the ',1!:)man to takt, you to, 

the hotel t,ta4. you in a.,;:cinat? A On& Alt 

I don't rmombor any mor4,. 

Q Did it happen morr;.' 

cola elor. 

, I  

4 



4 
- 

that iethe beet answerfyoU.can:tive 

Would that appear in any affidavit that yciu made 

any :f)f. the'hotels that-you have: 3ot evidence against?.- • 

MR. YAGEF: I obj ct.to'that;, Tha witness may 

cts,but the -contents of a written instrument, a 9, 

• the bes evidence. 

•.TFE COURT: Objectiory.sustained. 

ROSAto Y: 

.Q Did you go up in the elevator? AMO, 

•V-r 

Is there Fln elevator in that place? .A 1 an nc • sure.. 

Q At the time. that you went there r7ith this woman, yo U knew 

that Reith, and Reed and Lennon, had already been there and ob7-

tained eVidence; did you not ? A I amofficer Lennon, counselor. 

Q I mean, and Barry'•Officer Barry, had obtained *evidence. 

ainet the place? A T mew that R d %Ind P,eith had already 

obtained evidence. 

Q And you didn't arr--:l.st this woman? A 

g!r! 

BY THP COURT: 

Had -you ever been in this house before 

A No, Your 1.1nor. I belie  nor 

Q, 

Had you ever seL)n the place before? Ye 

Lennon? 

your Jor. 

441, ib it a rei;u1?1,r hotel, or just a common how ? 

'A Well, .1 LA.ieve itis s reular ho.1.'4 and has been fo 

have been inform 4. 

Q Any restaurant .connect 'iitl it mt 

Did jr.,L zoe enough of 

1•• 

Thr.! 



c444:Jointed fOr 1 doUr kie1.? your Honor. 

Are there n•Umbffar Of roonls,:in it? A There is your Honor.. 

To giv:ri you the impression as b ing a. recent hotel er one 

that had been in operation for some tine? 

some time. 

• 

n opeeatiOn 1,Qr 

'PIM COURT: Any 4uest1on ablut that? Th 

•regular hotel? • 

.1.40,9ALST'f•Y: Absolutely none. 

THIC 0OURT: .rht do you s 4 Magee? 

t this 14 • 

. MAGEE: Not so .f.kr as rzy 1nfr!ation goe, 

I don't Incrr the premises. 

*!•1?.. POSALSKY: It is he olds ho,,e1 in .1.7ew York di y. 

It has .:been in exiStenoe- since atway bac•k in 1822. It was -the, • 

first hotel built New Y, rk. 

evidently,it has a hist-rical 

o'haracter. 

MP. Pr..)SA1.71.1.. It has. H *7' kl its history radin7ra. 

.p.amp.blet tt. Mr Magee). 

Who prpax'1t ycl)....T affidavit? 

office of Head...4uarte:cs. 

A I believ 

ri oal man in the 

hIi name ;vas. O'Rourke at that time. 

Q OH he prepare the fIavits tf the fythcfr men? I* 

bell d 

• :01.6 he prep!.lre Rø.ith s• at 'Idavit? A. T.  

Tryr : 

....I. .4. J• 

a. 

tet4,, 



wore diotated? 11, Well, that f can't .recall your Honor 

the other:o“l0ers being presentat the time. 

Bir MR, ROSALSKY: 

Did they prepare Røith's affidavit? 

THE  COURT: He says .he doesn't know about t 

..BY MR. ioSAL KY: 

Were y6u present when Barr ttls affiiavi.t was P )4Wed..7., 

A That T can't recall. 

Did you 'talk over the facts that you had obtained with 

R itb before -- before your aIfdavit was dictated? A That I 

ari't, recall. 
11 

You don't reber IiMther you lid or not? . No. 

Q. And yo' don'7, recall whether you 

affidavit was aiot_ted? A No. 

Ro9AL9NY: That's .all. 

H T 0 N.W A y, 

• number .1, a witness 

n, teiified, as 76-:11o,its: 

esent wh 

I Ag:uarters Diviion, Special Squad 

b half of the •.ople,, being duly 

D.REOT :111AINATION. BY MAGM: 

Are yola a melp ' the j'inicrld 1 rl I Fil:.oe of the 

City A' key York? A r rn, ir. 

lung have you been glue 

Tv(,..1vo years? es, sir. 

(1? Yeol ir 

welwp 



Q tow long have you been married? 

Twelve years? .A Yeb, ir. 

Q Any children? A One. 

Twe ve.Yar 

.Q Do you know the premises'call d the Eastern Hotel? AYee.: 

Q Where are they located? 'A At Whitehall Street and South. 

In the City and. County of New Yoik? A- Yes, sir. 

(;) :Did you ever have occasion t:) visit those. premises? 

,occasion. 

Will you :state under ht circustancs, .and when?'' 

A Gotber around .abmat 11 P.M.,I went there tb execute 

warrants. 
By "r"IRT: 

That is, 1915, vas it? A Ye 1915, 

MAGEr: 

And wh.o,ztld you arr.?.st? A i.T.Imes Porter and Louis 

Westervelt. 

Did you-haxe any conversation with them, or either of 

them in r erenc t ulion which they were •arre3ted? 

A Yes Si)?; T 

him if 

1",:14 a nversatic;n_with the. fetlant Po ter. 

Yee. . 11,, what 'vas said by him,. and by you? A ske4'. 
A • 

s had ever been rted f,Jr the srn crime bef3re and 

said 11,f-.I• had. 

4 

T .1:14.10 ir it'wa.. OS 13.1 !-11  

rilF/Wl'ITY: One moment. T. mov. to olikti!tiit ut 

b..siLt, Liao, erial irrelcvcrt 

" Noo 1 subAi4 ,A,t , • I.) 



a dAic aration Prcainst inter0t,. 

,"..1010AT:Let t stand.. 

?T IR. itilAOEF,: 

(-4Go cri. A He said no, it was not th .oame clerk. 

Q, He said that Mr. Westervelt was not th same clerk? 

A Ts.s, 

else? A H szdd. thit the other clerk- bad got o634 

feet, aiu they h:( ; him 3o. 

Q Well; dide tell you -- is that all that 37)(:, said? A 

That J.Et pTabti.9aaly all that as said rfatrial to the, oas's. Then , 

ther., was some g neral ,conversation. 

Q, Is that ail you knoll , bcut the case? A Yes,. 

Oh, .by the way, did you ever se this, register beore 

(indic ting)? A No.. sai it tha other ,ni when I na T.• the 

-arrest. 

Did. you see it 

, byth •• otheroffic,,er s 

4. 

that time? sir; it 'mas *seized 

'CROSS .FIAI1:A TI Y P. W)S.ALS'KY: 

Did:. I understand you to say that Porter o1d you 3ht he 

had been 'arrested before 4:t the E3 ;tern flotal? • A. Yes,. sir, 

Ana i.e .you look -1 up the . ecordv t) verify  

No, ir 

beforfs-:? . • 

17 him the nance.undeix .4.1V we 

jut 



want to call you as my witnee cnd. Iwant'you t 

ot in:.touch'with,the reoorde, anc. to iook up ara4-616: whether' 

Porter w4S elei arrested at that hotel'before. And will you 

please r171 A (No answer). 

MR. FV1SAL3YY:.Will your Boner order this oUloerto 

return? 

WT. -YAGERI: If' your Honor please, I think thi, 

a little to far, -- this officer to perforr eervice for ths 

lefenJant. We 9 mply put in the statement. It is immaterial 

+c us whether vr not he was arre te-1 before. We cannot prove 

the 'fact ( an.arree 

"P. "OSAL71/: I wunt to ohcrif th4t no such conversati 

ever tcok place by the fact that there never was such at 

axtrs and I 7ant this witnes to look up the records. 

THE CoURT: Then you may pu+ him under subpoena. 

P. RnSALOYY: I,will to that, air. 

r.!OUTS8, 

/)CTE: It is to the c,:-.1vere, tifAl.that th witness 

t6Detifyinz, not to the f 

ROSA'T.,SvY: That's all. 

Th..). People resi.. 

',"?8ALEIn7: y it pl uee your Bon?r, I move to nem e 

the , ndiotff.ento on the 4,:.,,,rund that the Pe le hmri;•faijod to 

make i,:,t1f F,(1, ,And, in connectic,n with aue, I .'ant t(;, 

call vur flonorin 4ttent1cn 

rrie of::un ne 

• 



evidsnoi i wt fereno,:s. to Wastervel that-WoUld. 

.justify-my denying this .motion- with  fer nos ;0 -the 

'What oAliASno yflu M-

i , a prim. :r o?. 7fay0. 4ulltain this Jusatton? 

Why,• 1:f 

• fr L1-', ,.;i you-, WP aVen't shown -- that 

Shown knowIefi 'theon 31't cf thadant Witrve1t 

11.111..01) tol). ., make him oupable... 

W 1 

m n 

will 

THV, CnURT! 

el, your anor, to vccy• 

my notion. 

is have not 

frank Y u, in that r,peo . 

4.; 

speot to lestervelt, n3. ivi se th-? jury 

7:ith 

quit him; 

lt me..ask yu f'4 proof -is thar.w1.1l,justify my: 

denying 

"A. 

th re see.ms 

In -rith r rsnoeto. Porter. 

er Hon,r: please, 

L.bunft:rint prOof ho.ifl is knowl of. 

ounditi ns .(111,t th..!re. 

-..tbun5.4nt prccf, unoon-

.1.PJ-F,71, 70 f .by ,Titnesses v raoity has -not beet 

scfx inpeloheft or att'Aok 

2.1os s t1 ho- a; 

vc3ourei womea fcr. the 

anl pr'nn 

4;1),f f 4. iQflt i;.o wrrt.t hir 

T 7 th Pe or b,.1„-vo the rint to 

".4 

it 

jury 



OUt, •prima ro13 .oase, 't only tht, they 

-,0411.64. to , benefi  of the cross exam1n4tion..<4. 

thip ±n-ant 'e -ritneasedi so .that, in the end, the, whole 

.oaae., the. tes,7esta of the cdi,se, orA-Paisting of • )e.faxe0t:' 

prof on both aides, ani the 7,ross examination., all ,the proof 

taken, 'can be submitted to :h j11,77Y, or, if not rwhmitt, 

.11c. j ury,. can be p9 Bed upon bT  

I am -1.e?uming that th7tt thi? 14, ti 

F.;.eneral pr of, an:3. fro.r:-.. 

.offlo.er Lennon, :ATLI no-, 

ifla:It:ri r.1.1' 9 -ryd.in 

ruis- '4' of 14;7 "i 4.1 

4', 40-0" • ,•• 1- I' • 

••,1•' f. 

ovavn 

s, 4- e..fen5.An1; Prt v.as a ) 4h h. el, 

your evi ence i that ofqewera officers who 

hal oonverpa 7,ns ith r1.i vb ins tchin, ' 

arpantl in n,irters oilv±ince i3 that 

them .inmtouri ttenanoe 

cn th.m 

tne-3ses, most of flem,..-• guests of 1li hotel; 

r, not --ransient; they tn.1 tIken up their residence 

F.,nd some-b%it 

11n to visit -them.• 

1•41keeptx.hm) a public; .Itv 

1)1r3. r:rue.ste. . 'If th.1.te 

.v-abidiro:!; amd 
r 4 

*0 

c'optvor those .who might 

OPril 



bu•ftrtiOho( 'Ath aceommodation 

TB0y 'have in th ir control those who come to 

within r4,1onable hound:i4. 

.7uesta, without tht knowl, yithout ths-

consent hotelkeeper, do that whih i imovIerly 

in th,7 withoUt creatiw: any 1,1Hturbanc vfj,relly, 

T .tak that ,under the 1, i• he cannot h tit1rbd, without' 

porhap ()%rin.1.; Ofl hr part of the h .t1 , 3vit'for 

damages. Is not thlt the duty .vf tli hotIter ts his 

guests? 

MAUS: Ye sir. 

TTIF cOnt: 

from 4ny sour 

Of course, if the hutelkeeper discovered 

hrlt the person is an improper person he has 

the ri-ht ani po er, an.1 it is hie au y, to reL,cve him. 

79 thAre F,ny evidence of thtt haralcter? I recall none. 

Ncw, this 01.a8 'n.,ther branch, and that i the ch4 

that this perwn n-1.1-Aain d a house of ill f,ttme. 

of 

13.ut we have ne evid€nce ;., 

.‘„ 

fh fame  c,r •reputatio 

hclaf.3e.' - It .u1 be rather illuminative and helpful,, 

,Ithink., had we oofLevidnce fro thole who are about the 

lobatic, 1. of .that hotel, rlithr 1-y or. ni ht; or both, as 

to, .11F.Aher jisord4rly peoPle not froquent'thc 

.1 

. I th.ik y. arretat /741Vrii. Anf: ,N1.o 4omu ovidenoe 

As. t "1.1) e. hue and ery of th9 nr;i inetghbf19,?. 

, it Wail l)2r,' i. t 1  

• 



Cs. 

3 ,„:4010 Once that thi asfeAdant Port, 

botel)..did somw•imprOpe'e s;cte.-. ald brough 
s-

Itreats to the -:uests who 'c  there &Ad-that 

he pai6 for lt..? 

• T.6.);) nc)t think that yucubh-v 4 c 

as coul t'eusteined in law. 

3 •FA.C:,h a case 

Sustain in I BC not think hotels 
• 

in 14.0. York City_, becalis3. freau n %irly .ohafmoters' 

do et into th(.!, v,ry. fine ,,hotels, hol;el-that are 

ir.aintin With g eat vigilance on the pt:L C'1:11,,x hotel 

keepers. 

7P. 

CURT : I feel  r. M.ee) that the evi.dence is not 

-sufficient to „justify me in denying this motion.- •I must 
L. 

up,n it as 4 questi7:.n of lsc,t because the la"r ccnstrain 

. me to ps uch'. I ca,nnot abirk or avoid that 

duty, because it ia fliy duty tO• treat it as ouch. 

rao beit- thInl you have zw•d ut a prima faci case. 

I lc not think that yon,l'i4ve ot s.0.01-4 case that I 

h6uld., in 1.w, forwt.i.rd, and prove 

the •go&i. faith, perh4s, of his hotel: 

I. Cu) rolt 11,;: %;.(dtion :izdvise the jury to • 

ao uit bc,th Slit . 

'tju.ry 16und, the I.e n.nta not 1iIty.) 
ft 

Liior 
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